In the Supreme Court of Iowa

NO: 18-1184

BERTHA MATHIS and
STEPHEN MATHIS,

Petitioners-Appellants,

vs.

IOWA UTILITIES BOARD,

Respondent-Appellee,

and

PALO ALTO WIND ENERGY LLC and
MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY,

Indispensable Parties-Appellees,

and

PALO ALTO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS,

Intervenor-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR PALO ALTO COUNTY
HONORABLE NANCY L. WHITTENBURG, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

WALLACE L. TAYLOR AT0007714
Law Offices of Wallace L Taylor
4403 1st Ave. S.E., Suite 402
Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52402
319-366-2428
e-mail: wtaylorlaw@aol.com

JOHN M. MURRAY AT000555
Murray and Murray
530 Erie St.
Storm Lake, Iowa 50588
712-732-8181

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD NOT HAVE DEFERRED TO THE AGENCY'S INTERPRETATION OF THE STATUTORY TERMS AT ISSUE IN THIS CASE.

Brakke v. IDNR, 897 N.W.2d 522 (Iowa 2017)

City of Des Moines v. IDOT, Iowa (2018)

Doe v. Ia. Bd. of Med. Examiners, 733 N.W.2d 705 (Iowa 2007)

Evercom Systems, Inc. v. IUB, 805 N.W.2d 758 (Iowa 2011)

Ia. Ins. Inst. v. Core Group, 867 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa 2015)

Irving v. Employment Appeal Bd., 883 N.W.2d 179 (Iowa 2016)

JBS Swift and Co. v. Ochoa, 888 N.W.2d 887 (Iowa 2016)

Kopecky v. Ia. Racing and Gaming Comm., 891 N.W.2d 439 (Iowa 2017)

Neal v. Annett Holdings, Inc., 814 N.W.2d 512 (Iowa 2012)

NextEra Energy Res. v. IUB, 815 N.W.2d 30 (Iowa 2012)

NextEra Energy Res. LLC v. IUB, 815 N.W.2d 30 (Iowa 2012)

Ramirerz-Trujillo v. Quality Egg LLC, 878 N.W.2d 759 (Iowa 2016)

Reid v. Ia. State Commerce Comm., 357 N.W.2d 588 (Iowa 1984)

Renda v. Ia. Civil Rights Comm., 784 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2010)

Roberts Dairy v. Billick, 861 N.W.2d 814 (Iowa 2015)

Simon Seeding and Sod, Inc. v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm.,
895 N.W.2d 446 (Iowa 2017)

SZ Enterprises v. IUB, 850 N.W.2d 441 (Iowa 2014)

199 I.A.C. § 24.2

Iowa Code § 17A.19

Iowa Code § 17A.19(10) (c)

Iowa Code § 17A.23(3)

Iowa Code Chapter 476

Iowa Code § 476.2(1)

Iowa Code § 476.53

Iowa Code § 476.103

Iowa Code Chapter 476A

Iowa Code § 476A.1(5)

Iowa Code § 476A.6(3)

Iowa Code § 476A.12

Melissa H. Weresh and Aaron W. Ahrendsen, Rectifying Renda: Amending the Iowa Administrative Procedure Act to Remove the Legal Fiction of Legislative Delegation of Interpretive Authority, 63 Drake L. Rev. 591 (2015)

II. WITH RESPECT TO WIND ENERGY PROJECTS, A FACILITY AS DEFINED IN IOWA CODE § 476A.1(5) IS THE ENTIRE PROJECT AS PLANNED AND PROPOSED BY THE DEVELOPER.

Reid v. Ia. State Commerce Comm., 357 N.W.2d 588 (Iowa 1984)

Renda v. Ia. Civil Rights Comm., 784 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2010).

199 I.A.C. § 24.2

199 I.A.C. § 24.4(1) (e)

199 I.A.C. § 24.4(1) (h)

199 I.A.C. § 24.4(4)

Iowa Code Chapter 476A

Iowa Code § 476A.1(5)

Iowa Code § 476A.2

Iowa Code § 476A.6(3)

III. THE DECLARATORY ORDER ISSUED BY THE IOWA UTILITIES BOARD IN THIS CASE WAS ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, UNREASONABLE, AND AN ERRONEOUS INTERPRETATION OF THE LAW.

Reid v. Ia. State Commerce Comm., 357 N.W.2d 588 (Iowa 1984)

Renda v. Ia. Civil Rights Comm., 784 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2010)

Soo Line R.R. v. Ia. Dept. of Transp., 521 N.W.2d 685 (Iowa 1994)

18 C.F.R. § 292.204(a) (1)

18 C.F.R. § 292.204(a) (2)

Iowa Code § 17A.9

Iowa Code § 476.41

Iowa Code § 476.44(2)

Iowa Code § 476.6(3)

Iowa Code Chapter 476A

Iowa Code § 476A.1(5)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case.

Bertha Mathis and Stephen Mathis are residents and landowners in Palo Alto County, Iowa, who would be impacted by the development and operation of a large wind energy project proposed by Palo Alto Wind Energy and MidAmerican Energy.

The Mathis's filed a Petition for Declaratory Order with the Iowa Utilities Board (IUB) on December 5, 2017 (Petition for Declaratory Order) (App. Vol. I, p. 29). The Petition asked the IUB to determine that for wind energy projects the entire project, not just the wind turbines on a single gathering line, is a facility as defined in Iowa Code § 476A.1(5) that requires a certificate of public convenience, use and necessity from the IUB.

On February 2, 2018, the IUB issued a declaratory order that a facility requiring a certificate is the turbines on a single gathering line (Declaratory Order) (App. Vol. I, p. 124), not the entire wind energy project. The Mathis's then filed a Petition for Judicial Review in the Iowa District Court for Palo Alto County (Petition for Judicial Review) (App. Vol. I, p. 129).

On July 3, 2018, the district court entered a Ruling on the Mathis's Petition for Judicial Review, affirming the IUB Order (Ruling) (App. Vol. I, p. 140). The Mathis's filed a Notice of Appeal on July 10, 2018 (Notice of Appeal) (App. Vol. I, p. 149).

2. Statement of the Facts

MidAmerican Energy Company and Palo Alto Wind Energy LLC propose to develop a wind energy project in Palo Alto County. The project would consist of at least 170 wind turbines

producing at least 340 MW of electric power (Petitioners' IUB Brief, Ex. 4, 6) (App. Vol. I, p. 72,100). These 170 plus wind turbines would be crowded into a site among 167 residences. MidAmerican and Palo Alto Wind Energy were also advised of possible environmental impacts and archaeological and historical concerns regarding the project by the Iowa Department of Natural Resources and the Office of the Iowa State Archaeologist (Petitioners' IUB Brief, Ex. 1, 2, 3) (App. Vol. I, p. 54,62,69).

Although §§ 476A.1(5) and 476A.2 of the Iowa Code require that any electric generating power plant or combination of plants at a site that produces 25 MW or more of electric power must obtain a certificate of public convenience, use and necessity from the IUB, MidAmerican and Palo Alto Wind Energy contended that they are not required to seek a certificate from the IUB. Therefore, they had not applied for a certificate, even though the project will be at least 340 MW.

For 20 years wind project developers have been able to evade the requirement for a certificate from the IUB. Beginning with the declaratory order in the Zond Development Corporation case (Zond Order) (App. Vol. I, p. 13), the IUB has determined that for wind energy projects, if the turbines on a single gathering line produce less than 25 MW of power, they are not a facility as defined in Iowa Code § 476A.1(5)

and do not need to obtain a certificate. A gathering line is a buried electrical cable that ties some of the wind turbines in a project to the central substation. The substation, in turn, increases the voltage to put the electricity on the transmission line. However, the IUB's Zond decision failed to explain why the IUB determined that all of the wind turbines in a wind energy project are not a combination of power plants at a site pursuant to § 476A.1(5), and why the IUB adopted the gathering line concept. Further, none of the IUB decisions following Zond gave any rationale for the gathering line concept.

In this case Palo Alto Wind and MidAmerican have submitted a site plan that includes the entire 170 wind turbines. The entire 170 turbines are being developed at the same time as one project. The definition of "gathering lines" has no relevance in any context other than splitting up the site plan for purposes of evading the requirement of a certificate before the IUB. Indeed, Palo Alto Wind Energy has submitted its Application for Permit to Palo Alto County to include the entire 170 wind turbines. By its own actions, Palo Alto Wind Energy considered the 170 wind turbines as one project.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2) because it presents substantial issues of first impression and it presents fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the Supreme Court.

This is a case of first impression because no court has previously determined how the definition of an electric generating facility, as defined in Iowa Code § 476A.1(5), should be applied to wind energy projects. With the rapidly growing proliferation of wind energy projects in Iowa and more concerns expressed by residents living near proposed wind projects concerning environmental and land use impacts, this is a substantial issue that should be resolved by the Supreme Court.

In addition, because of the rapid proliferation of wind energy projects and the increasing encroachment of those projects on residents in the area and the environmental impacts, this is an issue of broad public importance that should be decided by the Supreme Court as soon as possible. The Iowa legislature clearly intended for the IUB to evaluate the environmental and land use impacts of electric energy projects. Iowa Code § 476A.6(3). The IUB has abdicated its role in enforcing this legislative intent by allowing wind

energy project developers to evade environmental and land use review.

For these reasons, the Supreme Court should retain this appeal in the first instance.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD NOT HAVE DEFERRED TO THE AGENCY'S INTERPRETATION OF THE STATUTORY TERMS AT ISSUE IN THIS CASE.

A. Preservation of the Issue for Review

This issue was preserved for review by the Plaintiffs presenting argument on the issue in their Briefs to the district court.

B. Standard of Review

A court must defer to an agency's interpretation of the terms of a statute only if the legislature has clearly vested the agency with authority to interpret the statute. Renda v. Ia. Civil Rights Comm., 784 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2010).

C. Argument

Judicial review of administrative action is governed by Iowa Code § 17A.19. In reviewing agency action, the court must set aside the agency action if it is "[b]ased upon an erroneous interpretation of a provision of law whose interpretation has not clearly been vested by a provision of law in the discretion of the agency." Iowa Code §

17A.19(10)(c). The issue in this case is the interpretation of the term "facility" in Iowa Code § 476A.1(5).

We start with the established rule that statutory interpretation is normally a judicial function. Doe v. Ia. Bd. of Med. Examiners, 733 N.W.2d 705 (Iowa 2007). As noted above, a court should defer to agency interpretation of a statute only if discretion to interpret the statute has been clearly vested in the agency. The Iowa Supreme Court set forth in Renda v. Ia. Civil Rights Comm., 784 N.W.2d 8 (Iowa 2010), the analysis a court must use to determine if discretion to interpret a statutory provision has clearly been vested in an agency:

However, because the legislature does not usually explicitly address in legislation the extent to which an agency is authorized to interpret a statute, most of our cases involve an examination of the phrases or statutory provisions to be interpreted, their context, the purpose of the statute, and other practical considerations to determine whether the legislature intended to give interpretive authority to the agency. This sort of analysis has not proven conducive to the development of bright-line rules. It must always involve an examination of the specific statutory language at issue, as well as the functions of and duties imposed on the agency.

Our review of authorities on this subject has confirmed our belief that each case requires a careful look at the specific language the agency has interpreted as well as the specific duties and authority given to the agency with respect to enforcing particular statutes. It is generally inappropriate, in the absence of any explicit guidance from the legislature, to determine

whether an agency has the authority to interpret an entire statutory scheme. As we have seen, it is possible that an agency has the authority to interpret some portions of or certain specialized language in a statute, but does not have the authority to interpret other statutory provisions. Accordingly, broad articulations of an agency's authority, or lack of authority, should be avoided in the absence of an express grant of broad interpretive authority.

Id. at 11-14.

The Supreme Court further clarified the high threshold for finding that discretion has been clearly vested in an agency:

In sum, in order for us to find the legislature clearly vested the Board with authority to interpret [a statutory provision], we

must have a firm conviction from reviewing the precise language of the statute, its context, the purpose of the statute, and the practical considerations involved, that the legislature actually intended (or would have intended had it thought about the question) to delegate to the agency interpretive power with the binding force of law over the elaboration of the provision in question.

NextEra Energy Res. LLC v. IUB, 815 N.W.2d 30, 37 (Iowa 2012) (emphasis added).

That high threshold for finding that interpretive discretion has clearly been vested in an agency is also demonstrated by an analysis of Iowa Supreme Court decisions since Renda. In 19 cases following Renda, where the question was considered, in only one case did the Iowa Supreme Court find that discretion had been clearly vested in the agency.

Melissa H. Weresh and Aaron W. Ahrendsen, Rectifying Renda: Amending the Iowa Administrative Procedure Act to Remove the Legal Fiction of Legislative Delegation of Interpretive Authority, 63 Drake L. Rev. 591 (2015). And even in the one case where the court found that discretion had clearly been vested in the agency, the court held that the agency had abused that discretion and reversed the agency action. Evercom Systems, Inc. v. IUB, 805 N.W.2d 758 (Iowa 2011). Plaintiffs are not adopting or supporting the analysis and conclusion of the law review article regarding the viability of Renda or the need to amend the Administrative Procedure Act. The reference to the article is made only to demonstrate the high threshold an agency must overcome to claim it has clearly vested authority to interpret a statute.

Three of the cases referred to in the law review article may be instructive for the Court in this case.

In Evercom Systems, Inc. v. IUB, supra, the IUB had determined that charging for collect phone calls incurred by third-party fraud violated a statute and an IUB rule. The statute, Iowa Code § 476.103, prohibits an unauthorized change in telephone service, and directed the IUB to adopt rules to implement the statute.

Evercom provided telephone service for jail inmates to call collect. A company that had not accepted collect calls

through Evercom was charged for collect calls by Evercom due to a fraudulent scheme by a third party. A complaint was made to the IUB that the unauthorized charges violated § 476.103 and the implementing regulations. So the IUB was required to apply the statute and the rules to this situation.

The Supreme Court first held that because of the direct mandate in § 476.103 for the IUB to adopt rules to implement the statute, there was clear legislative intent to vest interpretive authority in the IUB. Nonetheless, the court further held that the IUB abused its discretion. The court determined that billing for the unauthorized calls by Evercom did not come within the statutory or regulatory definitions at issue.

With respect to Chapter 476A, unlike the statutory authority in Chapter 476 at issue in Evercom, there is no broad legislative directive in Chapter 476A for the IUB to adopt rules to implement the chapter. The sweeping language in § 476.2(1), granting the IUB "broad general powers," is drastically different than the much more narrow language in § 476A.12. Iowa Code § 476.2(1) states in pertinent part, "The board shall have broad general powers to effect the purposes of this chapter" and "shall establish all needful, just and reasonable rules . . . to govern the exercise of its powers." Iowa Code § 476A.12, which governs the IUB in this

case, states, "The board shall adopt rules . . . necessary to implement the provisions of this subchapter."

In contrast to the clear legislative intent under Chapter 476, as determined in Evercom, there is no broad legislative directive in Chapter 476A. The sweeping language within § 476.2(1), granting the IUB "broad general powers" is drastically different than the much more narrow language in § 476A.12.

It is also significant that the legislature has limited the scope of rulemaking authority. Iowa Code § 17A.23(3) states:

An agency shall have only that authority or discretion delegated to or conferred upon the agency by law and shall not expand or enlarge its authority or discretion beyond the powers delegated to or conferred upon the agency. Unless otherwise specifically provided in statute, a grant of rulemaking authority shall be construed narrowly.

Furthermore, the Evercom court relied on the specific rulemaking authority directed by the legislature in Iowa Code § 476.103(3), where the legislature specifically directed the IUB to "adopt rules prohibiting an unauthorized change in telecommunications service." So it is clear that the legislature had clearly and specifically granted (indeed imposed) to the IUB the authority to adopt, and thus interpret, rules specifically addressing the issue presented in the

Evercom case. There is no such clear and specific directive from the legislature in this case.

In the second case referred to in the law review article, NextEra Energy Res. v. IUB, 815 N.W.2d 30 (Iowa 2012), NextEra objected to the IUB determining ratemaking principles for a wind energy project proposed by MidAmerican Energy. Iowa Code § 476.53 requires that a utility proposing an electrical generating facility must show, and the IUB must find, that the facility will be a reasonable alternative to meet electric supply needs. The IUB attempted to rely on the broad general powers granted to it in Iowa Code § 476.2(1), as set out above.

Even though the legislature gave the IUB broad general authority to carry out the purposes of Chapter 476 and to adopt rules to implement that chapter, the Supreme Court held that the legislature had not clearly vested interpretive authority to the IUB. So the court reviewed the IUB decision for corrections of errors at law.

Ultimately, the court upheld the IUB's interpretation of the "need" requirement in § 476.53. In making that determination the court considered the legislative intent. The court also upheld the IUB's interpretation of the requirement that MidAmerican consider other alternative sources of electric supply. Again, the court based its decision on legislative intent.

Applying the NextEra decision to the case on appeal here, there is no grant of broad general authority or broad rulemaking authority in Chapter 476A that would indicate legislative intent to clearly vest interpretive authority in the IUB. So this is even a weaker case for deferring to the agency than NextEra. In NextEra, even with broad authority granted to the agency, the court found that interpretive authority had not been clearly vested in the agency.

With respect to legislative intent, the legislative intent in Chapter 476A is to have the IUB ensure that an electric power facility, as defined in § 476A.1(5), will be “consistent with reasonable land use and environmental policies and consonant with reasonable utilization of air, land and water resources, considering available technology and the economics of available alternatives.” Iowa Code § 476A.6(3). If a wind energy project developer is allowed to evade IUB review by arbitrarily splitting the project into single gathering line pieces, that legislative intent is frustrated because the turbines on a single gathering line will have little environmental impact, but the entire project will.

In SZ Enterprises v. IUB, 850 N.W.2d 441 (Iowa 2014), the IUB issued a declaratory order determining that a solar energy company was a public utility and could not sell energy

directly to the City of Dubuque because that would infringe on the service territory of Interstate Power and Light, a regulated utility. The issue, therefore, was the definition of "public utility" and "electric utility."

In determining that the IUB had not been clearly vested with interpretive authority by the legislature, the court first noted where the legislature has provided a definition of a term that does not on its face appear to be technical in nature, that fact weighs heavily against agency discretion. The court also considered that the terms being interpreted were not very complex, were used in other contexts, and did not require any unusual expertise.

With respect to this appeal, the term "facility" in Iowa Code § 476A.1(5), has been defined by the legislature in the statute. Furthermore, the term "site" within the definition of facility in § 476A.1(5) is used in other contexts. As noted in the Petitioners' brief in the IUB declaratory order proceeding, the site plan submitted to Palo Alto County (Petitioner's Declaratory Order Brief, Ex. 5) (App. Vol. I, p. 76) referred to the entire 170-turbine project as the site. In addition, also noted in the Petitioners' Brief in the agency action, the IUB's own regulations, 199 I.A.C. § 24.2, defines "site" as "the land on which the generating unit of the facility, and any cooling facilities, cooling water

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