IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO: 18-1184

BERTHA MATHIS and STEPHEN MATHIS,

Petitioners-Appellants,

vs.

IOWA UTILITIES BOARD, Respondent-Appellee,

and

PALO ALTO WIND ENERGY LLC and MIDAMERICAN ENERGY COMPANY, Indispensable Parties-Appellees, and

PALO ALTO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS, Intervenor-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR PALO ALTO COUNTY HONORABLE NANCY L. WHITTENBURG, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

CECIL I. WRIGHT AT0008710 ANDREW L. MAGNER AT0012739 Iowa Utilities Board 1375 E. Court Avenue Des Moines, IA 50319

PH: 515-725-7367 FAX: 515-725-7398

EMAIL: cecil.wright@iub.iowa.gov EMAIL: andrew.magner@iub.iowa.gov

I.

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

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. THE BOARD'S INTERPRETATION OF "FACILITY" AS THE WIND TURBINES CONNECTED TO A COMMON GATHERING LINE IS REASONABLE AND CONSISTENT WITH LEGISLATIVE INTENT

Preservation of Issue

The Board has no issue with Petitioners' statement regarding the preservation of the issue.

Standard of Review

The Board has no issue with Petitioners' stated standard of review.

Argument

The definition of 'facility" in Iowa Code section 476A.1(5) is as follows;

"Facility" means any electric power generating plant or combination of plants at a single site, owned by any person, with a total capacity of twenty-five megawatts of electricity or more and those associated transmission lines connecting the generating plant to either a power transmission system or an interconnected primary transmission system or both. Transmission lines subject to the provisions of this subchapter shall not require a franchise under chapter 478.

Iowa Code section 476A.2 provides that a person shall not commence construction of a facility unless a certificate has been issued by the Board. Iowa Code section 476A.1(3) defines "certificate" as a certificate of public convenience, use and necessity issued pursuant to Iowa Code section 476A.6 (2017). Iowa Code section 476A.6 provides that a certificate shall be issued if the Board finds all of the following:

- 1. The services and operations resulting from the construction of the facility are consistent with legislative intent as expressed in section 476.53 and the economic development policy of the state as expressed in Title I, subtitle 5, and will not be detrimental to the provision of adequate and reliable electric service.
- 2. The applicant is willing to construct, maintain, and operate the facility pursuant to provisions of the certificate and this subchapter.
- 3. The construction, maintenance, and operation of the facility will be consistent with reasonable land use and environmental policies and consonant with reasonable utilization of air, land, and water resources, considering available technology and the economics of available alternatives.

Petitioners contend that Board's rules, found in volume 199 of the Iowa Administrative Code, are generally supportive of their claim that all of the wind turbines in a wind farm should be considered a single facility for the purposes of Iowa Code section 476A.1(5). However, these claims are misguided; the Petitioners' arguments rely on terms taken in isolation from the rest of the rules, make broad claims unsupported by the record, and are generally inapplicable to the issue presented to the Board in Petitioners' request for a declaratory order.

Petitioners first claim that the definition of "site," as included at 199 IAC 24.2, is meant to be an "expansive definition" because it encompasses components of a facility beyond the generating unit at the heart of the facility, including "the land on which the generating unit of the facility, and any cooling facilities, cooling water reservoirs, security extension areas, and other necessary components of the facility, are proposed to be located." Appellant Br. at p. 26. Contrary to Petitioners' claims, the definition of "site" appears to be related to the traditional methods of generating electricity (such as coal, natural gas, nuclear, or

hydroelectric facilities) as it refers to "the generating unit of the facility." 199 IAC 24.2 (emphasis added). In a wind project, each individual wind turbine is a generating unit. As written, the definition of "site" in 199 IAC 24.2 would evaluate each turbine against the 25 MW definition of a "facility" in section 476A.1(5). In this scenario, no wind project yet constructed would possibly quality as a "facility," as opposed to the more expansive gathering line interpretation currently utilized by the Board.

Further, Petitioner's interpretation of this standard is not readily applicable to a wind farm in which 170+ wind turbines spread over as much as 100 square miles. In *Reid v. Iowa State Commerce Comm'n*, 357 N.W.2d 588 (1984), the Supreme Court rejected the idea that a "site" requires contiguity when a solid waste disposal site was located more than six miles from the generating unit when defining a facility for the purpose of section 476A.1(5). However, no court has ever held that a "single site" can be construed to be a 100 square mile area in which 100 or more wind turbines are dispersed.

The Mathises claim that the an application for a certificate pursuant to 199 IAC 24.4(1)(e) must identify the design capacity of a facility available to each "participant," or owner, of the facility, which would require all generating units operated by one owner to be considered a single facility. Appellant Br. at p. 27. This argument is absurd for two reasons. First, tying the ownership of a generating unit to its status as a facility implies that a single facility, if operated by two participants, would no longer be considered one facility. Second, Petitioners' reading of the application requirements ignores the actual purpose of said rule, which is to provide the Board with information regarding the ownership of a proposed facility and nothing more.

Next, Petitioners assert that 199 IAC 24.4(1)(e) requires the entire project be considered a single facility because there is no way to segregate the energy output on a single unit. Appellant Br. at pp. 27-28. Again, the Mathises' attempt to expand the scope of a "single site" undermines their position. Specifically, Petitioners' reading confirms that a gathering line with segregated energy output records would be considered a single "facility;" provided

that gathering line did not include more than 25 MW of generation, it would not need a certificate. Further, the Mathises' argument indicates that any individual generating unit that can provide segregated energy output records would qualify as a facility itself; most wind turbines are individually metered.

Again, attempting to read the application requirements at 199 IAC 24.4(1)(e) in isolation produces phrases divorced from all meaning.

As part of the generating certificate process, an applicant must provide "information related to its selection of the proposed site for the facility," including "the general criteria used to select alternative sites and how these criteria were used to select a proposed site." 199 IAC 24.4(4), 24.4(4)(a). Petitioners contend that the use of site and facility in this context could not accommodate the Board's gathering line interpretation. Appellant Br. at pp. 28-29 (stating that "If the site and the facility were just the few turbines on a single gathering line, there would be no alternative sites to be considered. This is because turbines on a gathering line could not be moved to an alternative site and still

be part of the entire project."). This assertion is not only factually incorrect, but also fundamentally flawed. First, wind farm developers frequently include multiple "alternative sites" for the placement of each individual turbine. For a project the size of this, the developer may have identified dozens of potential wind turbine sites. Further, a gathering line is not a fixed item with a fixed reach. A gathering line can be arranged to accommodate generating units installed in a variety of configurations, and any number of turbines could be sited to connect to that gathering line. There is no reason why the gathering line or any generating unit connected to it could not have an alternative site.

Finally, Petitioners contend that Iowa Code section 476A.1(5), which defines "facility" to include "those associated transmission lines connecting the generating plant to either a power transmission system or an interconnection primary transmission system or both," implies that a facility is defined by its point of electrical connection with the utility grid. Appellant Br. at pp. 29-30. This assertion is not only unsupported, but incorrect. While a transmission line does function as a pathway

from a generating unit to the electrical grid, the Mathises' argument ignores the statute's use of transmission lines as a necessary component of a facility. Practically speaking, a generating unit divorced from the utility grid would be useless. The legislature includes the transmission lines as part of the facility in furtherance of its intent that an application for a generating certificate should include all necessary elements of the facility. See Reid, 357 N.W.2d at 590 (explaining the legislature's intent to consolidate all generation-facility authority under the Board). Indeed, the next sentence of the Code confirms just that reading by exempting those transmission lines from the Board's traditional franchising process. Iowa Code § 476A.1(5) ("Transmission lines subject to the provision of this subchapter shall not require a franchise under chapter 478.").

Considering the issues and facts presented to the Board in Zond and its progeny, including this case, the Board's interpretation of a facility that a "single site" is constrained by the capacity of wind turbines on a gathering line is a reasonable and practical approach to address this question.

B. THE BOARD'S INTERPRETATION OF LAW IS NOT ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS, UNREASONABLE, OR AN ERRONEOUS INTERPRETATION OF LAW AND IS SUPPORTED BY LEGISLATIVE ACTION SINCE THE ZOND DECISION

Preservation of Issue

The Board does not take issue with Petitioners' statement regarding the preservation of this issue.

Standard of Review

The Board does not take issue with Petitioners' stated standard of review.

Argument

The Board's declaratory orders in both this case and *Zond* are reasonable and consistent with legislative intent. The Board's determination that wind projects should be evaluated based on the nameplate generation capacity on a single gathering or collection line offers a practical, relevant, and consistent policy to encourage the development of alternative energy production (AEP) facilities pursuant to legislative intent.

"An agency's action is 'arbitrary' or 'capricious' when it is taken without regard to the law or facts of the case. Agency action is 'unreasonable' when it is 'clearly against reason and evidence." Soo Line R. Co. v. Iowa Dept. Transp., 521 N.W.2d 685, 688-89 (Iowa 1994) (internal citations omitted). While Petitioners allege that Zond and its progeny, including this case, are "arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable," this argument is fundamentally flawed in a number of ways. Primarily, Petitioners' allegation is undermined by the text of Zond itself, where the Board examined and analyzed a number of factors before issuing its finding.

Petitioners first allege that the Board's "gathering line" standard is not based in either fact or law. This is patently incorrect. The question before the Board in Zond was how the statute would apply to large-scale wind farm projects and included a discussion of the relevance of the nameplate capacity located on a single gathering line. The Board began its examination in Zond by stating that the petitioners sought guidance regarding a 150-tubine wind farm that would be spread over 20 square miles and a 100-turbine wind farm that would be spread over 15 square miles. Zond at 2-3 (App. 14-15). The Board noted specifically that "[b]ecause the units are dispersed, the output of each unit will be

collected through a network of 24 kV lines" and that "No more than eight individual wind generators, totaling 6 MW nameplate capacity, will be located on any single gathering line." *Id.* at 3 (App. 15). From the outset, the Board explained how the gathering line capacity was relevant to the Board's determination of the ultimate issue.

The Board then examined the interplay of Iowa Code chapter 476A and Iowa's legislative policy favoring the development of AEP facilities. The Board specifically stated that the Board's eventual determination with respect to gathering line capacity is "based, in part, on the interplay between Chapter 476A and the AEP statutes." Zond at 8 (App. 20). The Board noted that a generating certificate proceeding, required for a facility with a nameplate generating capacity of 25 MW or more, adds a significant regulatory burden, which the Board implied is inconsistent with the state's stated intention to encourage the development of AEP facilities. Id. at 3 (App. 15); see Iowa Code § 476.41 ("It is the policy of this state to encourage the development of alternate energy production facilities . . . in order to conserve

our finite and expensive energy resources and to provide for their most efficient use.").

The Board also examined the decision criteria for granting a generating certificate, as described in Iowa Code section 476A.6 (1997). The Board noted that three of the six criteria were only applicable to public utilities, as defined in Iowa Code section 476.1, and were inapplicable to the petitioners in Zond. The Board then proceeded to analyze the final three criteria, finding that the three factors were "of little relevance in cases involving AEP facilities which are built, and the power sold, to an investor-owned utility to satisfy its statutory AEP purchase obligation" thenrequired at Iowa Code section 476.44(2). Zond at 4-5 (App. 16-17). The Board's discussion of these criteria indicates that these criteria were largely outside the Board's control and implied that there was no public purpose to requiring a certificate. Id. at 5, 8 (App. 17, 20) ("Because of the legislative policy encompassed in the AEP statutes, any Board determinations required under Chapter 476A have already been made.").

After reviewing the applicable statutory provisions, the Board addressed the question of whether the wind farm projects, as proposed, were subject to the certificate requirement of Iowa Code chapter 476A. The petitioners had argued that the projects were not "at a single site" so as to be classified as a facility, that the Iowa Code chapter 476A criteria were not applicable to the projects, and that the legislature had defined an AEP facility to include the singular "wind turbine" such that a series of wind turbines could not be considered a single facility "unless they are all located at a single site." *Zond* at 5-6 (App. 17-18).

Only at this point, after extensive review of the facts of the case, review of the applicable statutory requirements, and discussion of the petitioner's arguments did the Board make a determination that the term "facility" applies "to the wind turbines connected to a common gathering line." *Id.* at 6 (App. 18). In making this determination, the Board reasoned that the term "site" does not contemplate a "15 or 20 square mile area," and that the term "facility" does not include each individual wind turbine. *Id.*

In support of its interpretation, the Board analyzed the Iowa Supreme Court's decision in *Reid*, as well as the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission's (FERC) rules regarding qualifying small production facilities (as defined as a facility of no more than 80 MW at one site). Zond at 6-7 (App. 18-19) (citing 18 C.F.R. § 292.204(a)(2)). The Board noted that the *Reid* court did not directly analyze the term "single site" but implied that a landfill located 6 miles away from the facility would not be considered at a single site but for the landfill's status as a necessary component of the facility. Zond at 7 (App. 19); see Reid, 357 N.W.2d, at 589-90 (finding that "the landfill is an essential component of a generating plant" and indicating that the landfill is part of the facility under Iowa Code chapter 476A as consistent with the legislative intent to provide exclusive generating certificate authority to the Board). The Board also found that the FERC rule, which defined a single site as anything within a one-mile radius, would lead to the same result in the case and evidences an agency rule to provide practical limitations on the term "site". Zond at 7 (App. 19).

It is clear from reading Zond that the Board examined the facts presented in the case, analyzed the facts pursuant to the applicable law, and made a decision based on those factors that would further the legislative intent. To that end, Zond and its progeny have been cited in at least 25 separate Board dockets in the last 20 years for its interpretation of "facility" in Iowa Code section 476A.1(5). These dockets include petitioners seeking declaratory rulings on the same issue as Zond; waiver requests pursuant to Iowa Code section 476A.15 for projects with at least one gathering line with at least 25 MW of attached nameplate generation capacity;² and requests for advance ratemaking principles for wind farms to be owned by rate-regulated public utilities.3

The Board's decision in *Zond* has provided a rational, reasonable bright-line interpretation of the statue that provides

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